SULTELLE COURT COPY

No. S 1 7 7 4 0 1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BARBARA J. O'NEIL, individually and as successor in interest to PATRICK J. O'NEIL; et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CRANE CO. and WARREN PUMPS, LLC,

Defendants and Respondents.

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 2 8 2009

Frederick K. Ohirioh Clerk

WARREN PUMPS, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Div. Five, No. B208225 Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. BC360274 The Honorable Elihu Berle, Judge Presiding

Laurie J. Hepler, No. 160884
James P. Cunningham, No. 121406
CARROLL, BURDICK & McDONOUGH LLP
44 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Under what circumstances, if any, is the manufacturer of a product liable for harm caused when the purchaser incorporates replacement parts, or affixes new parts, made and supplied by third parties?

II

INTRODUCTION

Two published decisions this year create a sharp conflict over issues of statewide and indeed nationwide importance: the extent of an equipment manufacturer's liability for allegedly defective products. The First District, following the teachings of this Court's decisions and multiple appellate precedents, decided the issues in a way that limited a manufacturer's liability to products it sold or distributed. The Second District panel in *this* case rejected the First District's decision, and instead relied on one of its own decisions to establish a far broader scope of liability. Thus, the decision here amply meets both of the primary criteria for Supreme Court review: a decision from this Court is necessary to secure uniformity of decision in this State *and* to settle important questions of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8-500.)

Petitioner Warren Pumps, LLC manufactured and sold pumps to the United States Navy during World War II, for installation on ships,

including the USS Oriskany. The Navy incorporated the pumps into a complex steam-propulsion system that the Navy designed. (Slip Op. at p. 3; see also Petition for Rehearing at pp. 11-14 [seeking to correct inferences that were not legitimate even from this nonsuit record].) Mr. O'Neil served as an officer on the Oriskany between June of 1965 and August of 1966 (Slip Op. at p. 2), nearly two decades after Warren sold the pumps to the Navy.

It was undisputed that by the time Mr. O'Neil boarded the Oriskany, no original asbestos-containing components remained in the pumps, and any asbestos components that Mr. O'Neil may have been exposed to were manufactured and supplied by third-parties and installed by the Navy. (*Id.* at pp. 15-16.) The Navy also affixed external asbestos insulation and flange gaskets, neither of which Warren manufactured or supplied, to the exterior of some of the pumps. (See Petition for Rehearing at pp. 11-14, 17-18.) Mr. O'Neil died of mesothelioma, which he contracted partly as a result of his shipboard exposures to dust from a range of asbestos-containing products including, he claimed, those the Navy used with Warren pumps.¹ (Slip Op. at pp. 2-3, 21.)

While not relevant for nonsuit review, at trial the defendants disputed that work with or around gaskets or packing causes disease.

Moreover, while this Petition necessarily cites some assertions in the appellate court's opinion that Warren did not challenge on rehearing, Warren emphasizes that those assertions were themselves the product of a

In Taylor v. Elliott Turbomachinery Co., Inc. (Feb. 25, 2009)

171 Cal.App.4th 564 ["Taylor"], the First District Court of Appeal held that equipment manufacturers have no duty to warn of dangers posed by affixed or replacement parts that they did not manufacture or distribute. Taylor held further that the "component-parts defense" precluded failure-to-warn liability, where no defect in the manufacturer's product itself (e.g., a pump or a valve) caused the injury; rather the injury resulted from the purchaser's incorporation of that product into its own product or system, i.e., a Navy ship's steam-propulsion system.

But on September 18, also in a published decision, the appellate court in *this* case expressly disagreed with all of *Taylor*'s conclusions, and reversed a nonsuit judgment. (*O'Neil v. Crane Co.* (2nd Dist., Div. 5) 177 Cal.App.4th 1019 ["*O'Neil*"; further citations are to the Slip Opinion].) As more fully explained below, the facts in *O'Neil* do not differ materially from those on which *Taylor* was decided.

Trial courts in California now have no clear direction. They confront two precedents that reach opposite conclusions of law on essentially the same facts: *Taylor* holds that equipment manufacturers have no duty to warn of the asbestos hazards associated with other

very liberal review of the nonsuit record, effectively ignoring the defense evidence. (See Slip Op. at p. 2, fn. 1, citing *Elmore v. American Motors Corp.* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 578, 583.)

manufacturers' replacement components or exterior insulation and flange gaskets used with their equipment. O'Neil holds that they do. The confusion sown by O'Neil affects thousands of product liability cases — primarily but not exclusively asbestos cases — now making their way through and to the California court system from every corner of the nation. The outcome in each Superior Court lawsuit depends on which precedent the particular law-and-motion or trial judge decides to follow. (See Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 456 [trial courts faced with conflicting precedents on point must choose which to follow].)

Such disarray is untenable. This Court should grant review of O'Neil to resolve it.

III

THE KEY FACTS COMMON TO TAYLOR AND O'NEIL DO NOT MATERIALLY DIFFER

O'Neil is not reconcilable with Taylor – which it expressly rejects. The key overlapping facts are as follows:

Both of these cases involved claims for personal injury or wrongful death arising out of a Navy veteran's exposure to asbestos.

Plaintiffs Reginald Taylor and Patrick O'Neil each served during the 1960s aboard Navy aircraft carriers that were built during World War II. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 570; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at p. 2.)

The defendants in both cases were manufacturers that sold equipment – primarily pumps and valves – to the Navy during the 1940s for use in the ships' steam-propulsion systems. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 570; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at p. 3.) The defendants in *Taylor* did not "participate[] in the integration of their components [i.e. their pump and valve products] into the design of the [ship's] propulsion system." (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 585.) Both sides' experts in *O'Neil* testified similarly. (See Warren's Petition for Rehearing in *O'Neil* at pp. 11-14, contra Slip Op. at pp. 20-21.)²

The defendants' products were built to the Navy's precise specifications. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 585; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at p. 5, and see portions of the record cited in Warren's Petition for Rehearing.³)

Moreover, Warren did not control what replacement product the Navy used once Warren delivered a pump to the shipyard – i.e. once it relinquished control of its own product. (See Petition for Rehearing at p. 9, fn. 3.) The Navy decided what to use as replacement parts (13 RT 2237; 15 RT 2695-2696, 2698-2699) – the only parts to which Plaintiffs claimed Mr. O'Neil was exposed. And as Plaintiffs' expert Captain Lowell confirmed, no Respondent supplied any of those replacement parts. (7 RT 1017) The Navy installed replacement gaskets and packing manufactured by other companies (11 RT 1900-1904), per the Navy's specifications.

See, e.g., 13 RT 2236-2237; 7 RT 938 and 1058-1060 [the Navy, through instructions to a shipyard and specifications, determined what tasks and level of performance each pump had to achieve]; 14 RT 2489-2491 [decision whether equipment components did or did not contain asbestos dictated by the Navy].) Plaintiffs' expert Captain Lowell explained that Warren Pumps had no role in the development of military specifications issued by the Navy (7 RT 1016; see also 7 RT 1040-1041) – but had to follow them strictly in building its pumps (7 RT 1032-1034); that some

Some (but not all) of the pumps and valves sold by the defendants in these cases came with internal asbestos-containing gaskets and/or packing. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at pp. 570-571; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at p. 3.⁴) Certain maintenance performed on the defendants' pumps and valves required that gaskets and packing be removed and replaced. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 571; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at p. 3.) The plaintiffs alleged that this maintenance generated asbestos dust in their vicinity, to which they claimed exposure. (*Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 572; *O'Neil* Slip Op. at pp. 3-4.)

Neither plaintiff ever saw or heard warnings about asbestos from any source. (Cf. *Taylor*, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 575; cf. *O'Neil* Slip Op. at pp. 4-5; see also 10 RT 1737.) The plaintiffs contended the equipment manufacturers should have provided such warnings, and both decisions

military specifications required the use of asbestos (7 RT 1035); and that Warren had to build what the Navy required (7 RT 1032-1034).

Military specifications governed the design of pumps, the composition of internal pump components, and pumps' thermal insulation, and Warren followed them. (13 RT 2218-2219) Lowell conceded that those specifications prescribed the only acceptable performance standards for the pumps. (7 RT 938-940 and 1058-1060) During World War II, some pumps had components that contained asbestos in order to meet certain Navy criteria. Again according to plaintiffs' expert Captain Lowell, "virtually all of those World War II pumps had asbestos packing and asbestos gaskets." (7 RT 922) He testified repeatedly that asbestos was a necessary material in the 1940s for which there was no substitute feasible for use aboard the Oriskany. (7 RT 1052-1054)

⁴ By its repeated phrase "packing and insulation," it appears the appellate court meant "packing and gaskets," since early in the Slip Opinion it refers to something called "gasket insulation" (p. 3), which does not exist and the record nowhere mentions.

proceeded on the premise that the risk of harm to the plaintiff from asbestos-containing parts was known or knowable to the manufacturers at the time of manufacture and distribution.

- Taylor, reviewing a summary-judgment in the light most favorable to the plaintiff (171 Cal.App.4th at p. 574), "necessarily assume[d] that the dangers of asbestos were either known or knowable during the relevant time period" (id. at p. 577, fn. 6).
- The appellate court *here* reviewed a nonsuit, "disregarding conflicting evidence" and indulging all inferences in plaintiffs' favor, which led the court to suggest that both the defendants and the Navy had "actual knowledge of the dangers of asbestos." (O'Neil Slip Op. at pp. 5-6, and p. 2 fn. 1.)

by Petition for Rehearing, Warren protested the O'Neil court's inference that it actually knew of the dangers of asbestos when it sold pumps to the Navy in the 1940s. The only record evidence was to the contrary. (See 13 RT 2197-2198 and 2255.) But for purposes of analyzing the duty to warn of the risk that sailors could develop a fatal disease from work on asbestoscontaining replacement parts, this Court can assume without deciding (as the Taylor court did) that such a risk was "knowable" at the time the defendants sold their products, based solely on the testimony of plaintiffs' expert Barry Horn. (6 RT 719-725, 729, 732) Warren contends that assumption would collapse if contrary evidence were considered, but that is not the issue here. Asbestos plaintiffs frequently rely on similar if not identical evidence to avoid summary judgment (as in Taylor) or nonsuit (as here) on failure-to-warn claims.

original asbestos-containing part remained in the defendants' pumps and valves by the time the plaintiffs boarded their respective ships. In both cases it was undisputed that all such parts had been replaced – before either plaintiff's alleged exposure – with gaskets, packing and internal (covered) insulation manufactured and distributed by unidentified companies.

(Taylor, 171 Cal.App.4th at pp. 572, 579; see O'Neil Slip Op. at pp. 15-16; see also 7 RT 1017 [plaintiffs' expert testified "I know of none of the defendants here today that made asbestos [-containing parts]"].)

Taylor viewed those replacement gaskets and packing as the defective products causing the plaintiff's injury. (Taylor, 171 Cal.App.4th at p. 587 ["Mr. Taylor's injuries were caused not by any action of respondents' products, but rather by the release of asbestos from products produced by others"].) Taylor concluded there could be no liability for failure to warn of dangers inherent in products that other companies had distributed, even where "the use of asbestos-containing materials with respondents' equipment was both foreseeable and anticipated by respondents." (171 Cal.App.4th at pp. 571, 585.)

On this point the O'Neil opinion diverges. Forcing this case into the mold of its prior decision in Tellez-Cordova v. Campbell-Hausfeld/Scott Fetzger Co. (2004) 129 Cal.App.4th 577 – in which a demurrer required the

court to assume that "[t]he use of the defendant's 'own product' created the harm" (O'Neil Slip Op. at p. 20) – the court here asserts that Mr. O'Neil's "injury was caused by the operation of respondents' products with replacement [asbestos-containing parts]," which the respondents' products "needed ... in order to function." (Ibid., italics added.⁶) "Tellez-Cordova cannot be distinguished," wrote the author of Tellez-Cordova in deciding O'Neil. (Slip Op. at p. 20.) "Tellez-Cordova holds that a manufacturer is liable when its product is necessarily used in conjunction with another product, and when danger results from the use of the two products together." (O'Neil Slip Op. at p. 20.⁷)

This Court should grant review regardless of whether that is a fair reading of this record.

As a threshold matter, such factual inferences were not legitimate, even applying the nonsuit standard of review (see Warren's Petition for Rehearing at pp. 3-11):

⁶ "Asbestos does of course have inherent dangers," the O'Neil court allowed, "but appellants' evidence was that the asbestos incorporated into (and onto) respondents' products caused injury when it was removed" – a premise from which the court somehow concluded that "[t]he danger was caused by the operation of respondents' products." (Id. at p. 20.)

O'Neil held that "Taylor reached its conclusion through what in our view is a misunderstanding of Tellez-Cordova" (Slip Op. at p. 19; see also id. at p. 20 ["This analysis misunderstands the facts of Tellez-Cordova."])

- replacement parts to function. This record supports at most the conclusion that realities external to Warren originally drove the inclusion of asbestos-containing parts in these pumps i.e. the Navy prescribed performance criteria for the pumps, and the only way to meet some of those criteria in the 1940s was to use asbestos.
- Warren's pumps did not create or contribute to the harm from replacement asbestos-containing components.

 Assuming, as the O'Neil court does, that the heat "baked" gasket and packing material onto defendants' equipment (later to be scraped off, possibly producing dust), that heat came from the ship's steam-propulsion system i.e. from the boilers. (Slip Op. at pp. 1, 3; see also 7 RT 896-897 [Plaintiffs' expert Captain Lowell: "We have to start with boilers and we got to make steam," going on to describe interconnectedness of pumps throughout that steam system].)

 For all this record shows, asbestos gaskets and packing would "bake onto" any equipment the Navy could hook into its steam-propulsion system. No evidence suggests that any

feature intrinsic to the pumps or valves themselves had anything to do with it.

But even if this record did suggest that Warren pumps "required" asbestos-containing replacement parts to function, this Court should grant review to clarify that such "requirement" would be insufficient to support strict liability, where (among other things) Warren had no part in the chain of distribution for any of the replacement products.

Additional facts not mentioned in the O'Neil opinion are nonetheless relevant to the issues raised, as explained in Warren's Petition for Rehearing. Mr. O'Neil's claimed asbestos exposures may be divided into three categories of products, *none* of which Warren manufactured or distributed:

• The first product category consists of *internal* gaskets and packing, and *internal* insulation covered by sheet-metal on one type of pump. Well before Mr. O'Neil boarded the Oriskany, the Navy had replaced all of these internal parts with products from other manufacturers. (Cf. Slip Op. at pp. 15-16; see Petition for Rehearing at p. 5, fn. 2 and pp. 18-19 [describing internal, covered insulation on reciprocating pumps when sold, and lack of testimony regarding exposure to insulation on this type of pump]; 7 RT 1017 [plaintiffs'

- expert testified that no defendant here made asbestoscontaining parts].)
- The second and third categories of products both of which
 Warren asked the appellate court to acknowledge that
 Warren never manufactured or sold at all are: external
 flange gaskets that the Navy affixed to pumps, and external
 blanket insulation that the Navy wrapped around the pumps.
 (See Petition for Rehearing at p. 5, fn. 2 and pp. 17-18.)

By order dated October 16, 2009, the court summarily denied rehearing.

IV

THIS COURT SHOULD RESOLVE THE STARK CONFLICT IN PRODUCT LIABILITY LAW PRESENTED BY O'NEIL

O'Neil rejects Taylor, but Taylor more faithfully reflects the law this Court has set down. This Court has never before held anything like what this appellate panel held: a manufacturer is strictly liable not only for dangerous parts originally found in its products, but also "for dangerous [parts] with which its product will necessarily be used" – even where the manufacturer has no role in placing those dangerous parts on the market.

(O'Neil Slip Op. at p. 18, italics added.)

To support its holding, Division 5 of the Second District relied extensively on its own five-year-old decision in *Tellez-Cordova*, *supra*, as

well as gross misreadings of this Court's decisions in *Vandermark v. Ford Motor Co.* (1964) 61 Cal.2d 256, and *Daly v. General Motors Corp.* (1978)

20 Cal.3d 725. (See *O'Neil* Slip Op. at pp. 15-20.) Further, while the *O'Neil* court disclaimed any discussion of negligence (*id.* at p. 19, fn. 9), it
reviewed strict liability claims using a stunted negligence analysis. Starting

"in the middle" of such an analysis – with foreseeability, rather than with
the existence of a duty – the court essentially ended there too. (*Id.* at pp.

16-18.) It thus lost sight of the duty concept's analog for strict liability
claims: *a sale* (*or distribution*), and its consequent limitations on liability.

In contrast, the First District Court of Appeal held in *Taylor* that "California law imposed no duty on respondents to warn of the hazards inherent in defective products manufactured or supplied by third parties." (171 Cal.App.4th at p. 571.) That court affirmed summary judgment for several makers of pumps, valves and other equipment sold to the U.S. Navy during World War II. *Taylor* rejected both strict liability and negligence theories, because it was undisputed that the defendants did not manufacture or sell the asbestos-containing gaskets, packing and insulation to which the plaintiff claimed exposure.

The O'Neil opinion acknowledges that Taylor is "to the contrary," asserting "several flaws in [Taylor's] reasoning," including a "misunderstanding" of Tellez-Cordova. (O'Neil Slip Op. at pp. 19-20.)

"In sum," the O'Neil court said, "we believe that Taylor was wrongly decided" (Id. at p. 21; see also, e.g., id. at p. 13 ["Taylor misses the mark"] and p. 15 ["Taylor found the argument persuasive. . . . We do not."]) Both decisions are published. This Court should grant review in O'Neil to eliminate this confusion.

A. Strict Liability

With respect to strict liability, the *Taylor* court carefully traced the development of California law (*id.* at pp. 575-578), and concluded it would be an unprecedented expansion of tort liability to require a manufacturer to warn of defects in products that it did not manufacture or distribute. "As the California Supreme Court explained three decades ago, the basis for imposing strict products liability on a particular defendant is that 'he has marketed or distributed a defective product."" (171 Cal.App.4th at p. 575, quoting *Daly v. General Motors Corp.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 725, 739.) Following an analysis equally applicable to a design defect theory, *Taylor* concluded:

Respondents were simply "not a part of the manufacturing or marketing enterprise of the allegedly defective product[s] that caused the injury in question." (Peterson [v. Superior Court (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1185], 1188.) Consequently, they may not be held strictly liable under California law for such products.

(171 Cal.App.4th at p. 579.)

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