S177401

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STA **OF CALIFORNIA**

BARBARA J. O'NEIL, Individually and as successor in interest to PATRICK. O'NEIL, Deceased, MICHAEL P. O'NEIL, and REGAN K. SCHNEIDER

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

SUPREME COURT FILED

CRANE CO. and WARREN PUMPS, LLC, NOV 19 2009

Defendants and Respondents Clark Chirich Clark

Deputy

After A Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five Case No. B208225

APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO WARREN PUMPS, LLC AND **CRANE CO.'S PETITIONS FOR REVIEW**

WATERS, KRAUS & PAUL Paul C. Cook (State Bar No. 170901) Michael B. Gurien (State Bar No. 180538) 222 North Sepulveda Boulevard, Suite 1900 El Segundo, California 90245

Tellez-Cordova v. Campbell-Hausfeld/Scott Fetzger Co. (2004) 129 Cal.App.4th 577	6. 7. 11. 15

1	homas v. General Motors (1971) 13 Cal.App.3d 817
T	hompson v. Package Mach. Co. (1972) 22 Cal. App. 3d 1887
<i>T</i> .	MJ Implants Products Liability Litigation (D.Minn. 1995) 872 F.Supp. 101920
T	forres v. Xomox (1996) 49 Cal.App.4 th 1
Τ	rope v. Katz (1995) 11 Cal.4 th 2744
V	Candermark v. Ford Motor Co. (1964) 61 Cal.2d 2566, 7, 15, 16
И	Fright v. Stang Manufacturing Co. (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 1218
R	ules
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.1105(e)(1)4, 29
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.1105(e)(2)29
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.1125(a)(4)6
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.1125(c)(2)6
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1)
C	alifornia Rule of Court, Rule 8.504(b)2

ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Plaintiffs and Appellants BARBARA J. O'NEIL, individually and as successor in interest to PATRICK J. O'NEIL (Deceased), MICHAEL P. O'NEIL and REGAN K. SCHNEIDER (collectively "O'Neil" or "Appellants"), submit this Answer to the Petitions for Review filed by Defendants and Respondents CRANE CO. ("Crane") and WARREN PUMPS, LLC ("Warren") (collectively "Petitioners").

I. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioners urge this Court to grant review to resolve a conflict among the districts of the Court of Appeal, between the decision of Division Five of the First District in *Taylor v. Elliott Turbomachinery* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 564, and the decision of Division Five of the Second District in *O'Neil v. Crane Co.* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 1019. Petitioner Crane states the issue to be reviewed is "the scope of a defendant manufacturer's liability for the products of others for which the defendant is outside the chain of distribution." (Crane Petition, p. 1.) The issue according to Petitioner Warren is whether a product manufacturer may be held "...liable for harm caused when the purchaser incorporates replacement parts, or affixes new parts, made and supplied by third parties[.]" (Warren Petition, p. 1.)

These statements of the issue are intended to preordain the answer desired by Petitioners if review is granted.¹ Petitioners claim that Mr. O'Neil's exposures to deadly asbestos fibers in and on Petitioners' products, products that were designed to use asbestos, were supplied with asbestos, and that

¹ Pursuant to Rule 8.504(b), "the petition must begin with a concise, *non-argumentative* statement of the issues presented for review...." (Emphasis added.)

Petitioners knew would operate with asbestos, is the fault of Petitioners' customer (the Navy), and the manufacturers of the asbestos materials that were necessary to the operation of Petitioners' high temperature equipment.

Petitioners' statements of the issue omit any mention of their own designs, participation, and knowledge of the use of asbestos with their equipment. As will be seen, Petitioner Crane's statement of the issue also attempts to apply a strict liability concept intended to define the scope of strict liability for non-manufacturing entities, such as retailers and distributors (the "chain of distribution" rationale), and stretch this concept to product manufacturers and to negligence theories.

Contrary to Petitioners' statements of the issue, Petitioners' conduct, designs and knowledge of the use of asbestos are at issue here. The issue, properly stated, is whether there is any sound policy reason to create an exception for product manufacturers for injuries caused by the foreseeable use (or misuse) of their products, under strict liability principles or negligence principles, where (1) the manufacturer designs or supplies its products with dangerous asbestos parts, and those original parts wear out and are replaced with identical dangerous asbestos parts, or (2) where the manufacturers' equipment requires dangerous products supplied by others to operate, and the combined use of the products creates a danger to the user?

II. <u>IF REVIEW IS GRANTED, THIS COURT SHOULD ORDER</u> <u>O'NEIL REMAIN PUBLISHED PENDING REVIEW</u>

Petitioners rely on Rule 8-500 (b)(1) of the California Rules of Court as grounds for review, which provides that the Supreme Court "may" order review "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law[.]" It is readily apparent that the *O'Neil* decision is

in conflict with the *Taylor* decision, directly so on the theory of failure to warn. Significantly, the holdings of *O'Neil* and *Taylor* are not in conflict on the issue of design defect, a wholly independent theory of liability. O'Neil and *Taylor* fundamentally differ with respect to whether the "stream of commerce" rationale, which defines the scope of strict liability for non-manufacturing entities that have participated in bringing defective products to market, has any application to cases, such as this one, in which the manufacturers' product combines with products of another to cause the plaintiff's injury. O'Neil and *Taylor* also diverge on the application of the "component part" defense, a difference which can be traced in large part to Petitioners' misstatement of the facts regarding their participation in designing their products for specific purposes, and in providing detailed instructions for the intended use of their products.

O'Neil and Taylor present a lack of uniformity in the decisions of the Court of Appeal, on an issue of recurring importance in asbestos litigation. If this Court exercises its discretionary power to grant review of the O'Neil decision, Mrs. O'Neil requests this court exercise its authority under Rule 8.1105(e)(1) and (2) to order that, while this matter is pending review, the

² Taylor expressly declared that it was not deciding the issue of design defect, whereas the O'Neil decision squarely held that a manufacturer may be responsible for designing a product to be used with dangerous products supplied by others. (Compare Taylor, supra, 171 Cal.App.4th at 577 ["Under California law, strict products liability has been invoked for three types of product defects: (1) manufacturing defects, (2) design defects, and (3) 'warning defects.' We are here concerned solely with the third category, which applies to "products that are dangerous because they lack adequate warnings or instructions.""]; with O'Neil, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 1036 ["...the use of asbestos, and replacement asbestos, was not happenstance. It was design."].)

O'Neil decision remain published.³ The fortuitous fact that *Taylor* was first in time, by a matter of seven months, does not make it the better reasoned decision, but granting review of the O'Neil decision while leaving *Taylor* published will, in effect, give it that status. Although a petition for review of the *Taylor* decision was denied, an order denying review has no precedential value, (*Trope v. Katz* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 274, fn. 1), and there was no conflict in the law when that petition was considered, as there is now.

Depublication of O'Neil pending review will result in an imbalance in the law, and an inequitable hardship on mesothelioma victims, exposed in circumstances similar to the O'Neil and Taylor plaintiffs, who are and will be actively litigating their claims while any review is pending. The *Taylor* opinion, as Mrs. O'Neil explains below, is out of step with pre-existing California authority, and if the O'Neil decision is correct, Taylor is "wrongly decided." (O'Neil, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 1037.) Until this Court decides which presents the better reasoned view, this Court should not allow depublication of the O'Neil decision, leaving Taylor as the only published authority. If this Court were to ultimately decide Taylor is wrong, and O'Neil is correct, the interim period during which review is pending will lead to scores of incorrect judgments and needless appeals. Mesothelioma is a fatal disease and its victims cannot survive extended trial and appellate proceedings that would be necessary to reverse a judgment entered by a trial court bound to follow the *Taylor* decision. This Court has recognized that mesothelioma is "inevitably fatal," has "no known cure", and that "average survival time is less

³ Rule 8.1105(e)(1) provides that, "[u] nless otherwise ordered under (2), an opinion is no longer considered published if the Supreme Court grants review..." (Emphasis added.) Rule 8.1105(e)(2) provides that "[t]he Supreme Court may also order publication of an opinion, in whole or in part, at any time after granting review."

than a year" from diagnosis. (*Hamilton v. Asbestos Corp., Ltd.* (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 1127, 1136.) By ordering that *O'Neil* remain published during any review, trial courts will have the ability to follow the *O'Neil* decision, including its holding on design defect (for which there is no conflict), and avoid potential waste of judicial resources. Given the split of authority, a trial court might also decide to follow *Taylor*. (See *Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.)

If, on the other hand, *O'Neil* is depublished pending review, the hands of the trial court and litigants will be tied, and will be obligated to follow a decision which, as Appellants contend and as *O'Neil* held, is an incorrect statement of the law. At the very least, prior to any decision of this Court, it is uncertain if *Taylor* is correct, having been questioned by another court of coequal authority. Though the role of this Court is to resolve such uncertainties, depublication of *O'Neil* will effectively sanction the *Taylor* view as the law to be followed by California trial courts, despite its uncertain status. If review is granted, this Court should order that *O'Neil* is to remain published, to avoid giving a preference to one side of an undecided issue. ⁴

III. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. O'Neil Is Consistent With Precedent From This Court And the Court of Appeal, Under Which a Manufacturer Is Strictly Liable For Foreseeable Uses (And Misuses) Of Its Product Which Cause Injuries

The liability which was recognized by the *O'Neil* court was based on application of long-standing strict liability principles, under which product

⁴ Imbalance in the law caused by depublication of *O'Neil* pending review may also be avoided by an order depublishing the *Taylor* decision. Although there is a 30-day time limit on requests for depublication of an opinion (Rule 8.1125(a)(4)), there is no time limit on this Court's authority to order depublication of an opinion on its own motion. (Rule 8.1125(c)(2).)

manufacturers are held liable for injuries caused by the foreseeable use and misuse of their products, and for defective components that are manufactured by others and incorporated into the manufacturers' product. (*O'Neil* Opn. p. 16, citing *Daly v. General Motors Corp.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 725, 733; *Vandermark v. Ford Motor Co.* (1964) 61 Cal.2d 256, 261.)

Under these principles, the liability of Petitioners for the asbestos supplied with its products was undeniable, and conceded by Petitioners. Petitioners readily concede that they have a responsibility to warn and safely design their products so that any sailor who works on the asbestos originally supplied with the equipment is not injured. Under the Petitioners' contention, however, as soon as that sailor is done with his repairs, in which the original asbestos components are replaced, their duty evaporates and the very next sailor to work on that same piece of equipment is owed no duty. The O'Neil court rightly rejected the Petitioners' claim that the result should be different because the asbestos parts they supplied with their equipment wore out and were replaced with identical asbestos replacement parts, having the "same dangerous propensities as the original parts." (O'Neil, Opn. p. 17.) Petitioners gave the O'Neil court no reason or authority for terminating their liability "at the point in time at which their products were subject to predictable and ordinary maintenance or repair." (O'Neil, Opn. p. 16.) O'Neil also rejected the contention that Petitioners had no liability for the asbestos insulation and gaskets which were necessary to the operation of their equipment, citing to Court of Appeal authorities which Petitioners are unable to distinguish. (O'Neil, Opn. p. 18, citing Tellez-Cordova v. Campbell-Hausfeld/Scott Fetzger Co. (2004) 129 Cal. App. 4th 577; DeLeon v. Commercial Manufacturing & Supply Co. (1983) 148 Cal. App.3d 336 and Wright v. Stang Manufacturing Co. (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 1218.)

The O'Neil decision is consistent with a long line of California authority holding manufacturers strictly liable for injuries caused by the foreseeable uses of their products, including circumstances in which the manufacturer's product is combined with products supplied by others, ⁵ subjected to foreseeable misuse, ⁶ foreseeable alterations, ⁷ and foreseeable negligence of intervening actors and users.⁸ This Court has long recognized that the overriding purpose of strict liability is "to insure that the costs of injuries resulting from defective products are borne by the manufacturers that put such products on the market rather than by the injured persons who are powerless to protect themselves." (Greenman v. Yuba Power Products, Inc. (1963) 59 Cal.2d 57, 63-64.) This Court held that to establish the manufacturer's liability "it was sufficient that plaintiff proved that he was injured while using the [product] in a way it was intended to be used as a result of a defect in design and manufacture of which plaintiff was not aware that made the [product] unsafe for its intended use." (Ibid; see also Cronin v. J.B.E. Olson Corp. (1972) 8 Cal.3d 121, 126-130 ["A manufacturer, distributor, or retailer is liable in tort if a defect in the

⁵ Vandermark v. Ford Motor Co., supra, 61 Cal.2d 256, 261; Tellez-Cordova, supra, 129 Cal.App.4th 577; DeLeon, supra, 148 Cal.App.3d 336; Wright, supra, 54 Cal.App.4th 1218; Gehl Brothers Manufacturing Co. v. Superior Court (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 178.

⁶ Huynh v. Ingersoll-Rand (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 825, 833-834.

⁷ Torres v. Xomox (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1, 19; Thompson v. Package Mach. Co. (1972) 22 Cal. App. 3d 188, 196; Thomas v. General Motors (1971) 13 Cal.App.3d 81; Putensen v. Clay Adams, Inc. (1970) 12 Cal. App. 3d 1062, 1076.

⁸ Soule v. General Motors Corp. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 548, 560; Huynh v. Ingersoll-Rand, supra, 16 Cal.App.4th 825, 833-834; Self v. General Motors Corp. (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 1, 7, overruled on other grounds, Soule, supra, 8 Cal.4th at 580.

manufacture or design of its product causes injury while the product is being used in a reasonably foreseeable way."].)

Foreseeability of product use was incorporated into the definition of design defect when this Court addressed that issue in *Barker v. Lull Engineering Co.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413, where the Court set forth the alternative tests for product defect, risk/benefit or consumer expectations:

[A] product may be found defective in design, so as to subject a manufacturer to strict liability for resulting injuries, under either of two alternative tests. First, a product may be found defective in design if the plaintiff establishes that the product failed to perform as safely as an ordinary consumer would expect when used in an intended or reasonably foreseeable manner. Second, a product may alternatively be found defective in design if the plaintiff demonstrates that the product's design proximately caused his injury and the defendant fails to establish, in light of the relevant factors, that, on balance, the benefits of the challenged design outweigh the risk of danger inherent in such design.

(Barker v. Lull Engineering Co., supra, 20 Cal.3d 413, 432.)

This Court has also recognized that a product manufacturer's responsibility to design a safe product includes the duty to make the product safe for use in circumstances in which a dangerous condition is created by foreseeable negligence of others. Car manufacturers, for instance, are obligated to make their cars "crashworthy," because accidents, caused by the negligence of others, are foreseeable. (*Soule v. General Motors Corp.* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 548, 560.)

With respect to warning defects, the duty to warn extends to dangers that are known or knowable to a defendant manufacturer, and "a failure to give adequate warnings might subject a manufacturer or distributor to strict liability when it knew or should have known of the danger and the necessity of warnings to ensure safe use." (Anderson v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.

(1991) 53 Cal.3d 987, 996-997.)

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